RECEIVED

02-27-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP2520-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. BENFORD, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Both Entered in the Eau Claire County Circuit Court the Honorable John F. Manydeeds, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ALISHA MCKAY State Bar No. 1090751 mckaya@opd.wi.gov TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE State Bar No. 1081378 breedlovet@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440

ISSUES PRESENTED

At the time of Mr. Benford's trial, an Eau Claire County Sheriff's Department policy required all defendants appearing for trial while in custody to wear a stun belt. After Mr. Benford expressed concerns with the use of the device and refused to wear it at trial, the circuit court ordered Mr. Benford to wear the device to attend his trial. Mr. Benford wore the device and attended the first day of trial without incident; however, when he declined to wear the stun belt on the second day of trial, he was removed from the courtroom and tried in absentia.

The question presented is whether Mr. Benford is entitled to a new trial because his constitutional and statutory rights to be present at trial were violated by the circuit court's erroneous determination that Mr. Benford was required to wear a stun belt to attend his trial.

The circuit court answered: No. (115:11-13; App. 102-04).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted to provide guidance for circuit courts resolving similar claims arising in other cases. Briefing should be adequate to present the issue for this court's decision, but Mr. Benford would welcome oral argument should the court deem it desirable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 17, 2015, Eau Claire Police Officers responded to Positive Avenues¹ for a reported battery. (1:2). When police arrived several witnesses indicated that Mr. Benford had severely injured D.M.R. during a fight. (*Id.*). Mr. Benford told police that D.M.R. struck him, which dislocated his jaw, and that he had punched and kicked D.M.R. in return. (Id.). Two witnesses to the fight told police that they tried to intervene in the altercation, but that Mr. Benford yelled at them and pushed them away. (*Id.* at 3). As a result of this incident, the state initially charged Mr. Benford with substantial battery related to the fight with D.M.R. and two counts of disorderly conduct related to the witnesses who attempted to intervene. (Id. at 1). The state later filed additional charges of first degree reckless injury and aggravated battery against Mr. Benford in regard to the same incident. (11:2).

Mr. Benford proceeded to trial and the jury returned guilty verdicts on all five counts—substantial battery, first-degree reckless injury, aggravated battery, and two counts of disorderly conduct. (111:65-71).

On September 8, 2016, the court, the Honorable John F. Manydeeds presiding,² sentenced Mr. Benford. (114). The court sentenced Mr. Benford to two years imprisonment on the substantial battery conviction comprised of one year initial confinement and one year extended supervision. (*Id.* at 70). On both the first-degree reckless injury conviction and the aggravated battery conviction the

¹ Positive Avenues provides resources for individuals experiencing mental health concerns or homelessness.

² The Honorable Brian H. Wright had presided over Mr. Benford's trial.

court sentenced Mr. Benford to ten years imprisonment comprised of six years initial confinement and four years extended supervision. (*Id.* at 71-72). The prison sentences are concurrent with one another. (63:2). On the two counts of disorderly conduct, the court imposed costs. (114:70).

Mr. Benford filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (65). Undersigned counsel, on behalf of Mr. Benford, filed a postconviction motion requesting that the court: (1) order a new trial on the ground raised in this appeal, (2) vacate the substantial battery conviction as multiplicitous, (3) modify his sentence based on the existence of a new factor, and (4) order community service in lieu of costs. (70).

After a hearing, the court denied Mr. Benford's request for a new trial. (115:11-13; App. 102-104). However, the court vacated the substantial battery conviction and modified the concurrent sentences on the first-degree reckless injury and aggravated battery convictions by one year from six years initial confinement to five years initial confinement with the extended supervision remaining at four years. (*Id.* at 20; 89:1). In addition, the court ordered community service in lieu of the costs previously imposed. (115:11; 90:1).

Mr. Benford filed a timely notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction entered on September 8, 2016, amended on December 18, 2017, and the denial of the new trial relief requested in his postconviction motion. (92:1). The state did not cross-appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the first day of the trial, the court informed the parties that Mr. Benford was refusing to wear a stun belt device under his clothing and that the device was required by jail policy. (106:21-22). The court instructed defense counsel to "impress upon Mr. Benford that in order to be present during the trial . . . he will need to wear that stun belt under his clothing." (*Id.* at 22). The court then allowed a brief recess for defense counsel to meet with Mr. Benford. (*Id.* at 24-25).

After conferring with Mr. Benford, defense counsel informed the court that Mr. Benford continued to refuse to wear the stun belt device. (Id. at 25). The state then expressed concerns with Mr. Benford's refusal to wear the device considering the violent nature of the allegations and the fact that the state had already advised its witnesses that Mr. Benford would be wearing the device during the trial. (*Id.* at 26). The court then indicated that allowing Mr. Benford to attend the trial by video was not an option because the equipment would be needed for other purposes. (*Id.*). Additionally, the court rejected utilizing shackles and inquired of the bailiff as to whether any other form of restraint was possible. (Id. at 26; 107:1-2). The bailiff responded: "Practice has been he'll wear the stun belt for the entire trial or he's not present for any of it from start of it to the end." (107:2). The court stated:

[T]he Court's absolute preference is that [Mr. Benford] be here personally for his trial. He has a right to do so but not at the risk of creating undo-safety risks for potential witnesses. And, again, this policy of his wearing a stun belt under these circumstances is not anything unusual. So if he chooses not to wear a stun belt, I don't think it leaves the Court with any real

alternative but that he not be allowed to personally be present for his trial; well, at least that portion of his trial where there are others testifying.

(106:26).

Mr. Benford then stated: "How about I stay out of the trial?" (107:3). The court advised Mr. Benford that he has a constitutional right to be present at trial, but this right had to be weighed against the safety and security needs of the courtroom. (*Id.*). Mr. Benford then expressed a fear of receiving a shock from the device and his mistrust of law enforcement officials who would be operating the device. (*Id.* at 4-5). The court then reiterated that for Mr. Benford to be present during the trial he would have to wear the stun belt device. (*Id.* at 6). Mr. Benford continued to refuse to wear the device and was taken back to the jail. (*Id.* at 7).

In discussing whether a curative instruction should be given to the jury to explain Mr. Benford's absence, defense counsel noted that Mr. Benford had never acted inappropriately in court, that he had never been violent in court, and that he never had any outbursts in the courtroom. (*Id.* at 8). The court then granted a short recess for the parties to draft a curative instruction in regard to Mr. Benford's absence. (*Id.* at 9).

Following this recess, the court informed the parties of *People v. Martinez*, 808 N.W.2d 1089 (Ill. Ct. App. 2004),

³ Specially, Mr. Benford's fear of the stun belt and mistrust of law enforcement operating the belt stemmed from his recent exposure to television news coverage of issues of police and race relations as well as coverage of police brutality and police use of Tasers. (*See* 59:10, 12). In addition, Mr. Benford expressed fear of the belt being placed around his midsection because of the risk of a possible shock and the fact that his aunt had died of kidney failure. (*Id.* at 12).

which held that a trial court's failure to consider certain factors before determining whether an defendant was required to wear a stun belt device violated the defendant's right to a fair trial. (107:10-12). Due to the holding of this case, the court asked the parties to present testimony as to why the stun belt should be required for Mr. Benford. (*Id.* at 12-13). Before doing so, the court took judicial notice that Mr. Benford had sent a series of letters⁴ to the court and that he had previously undergone a competency evaluation. (*Id.* at 13). In addition, the state informed the court that it was aware of a very recent incident in Green Lake County where a different defendant has refused to wear the stun belt and had attacked the prosecutors in the courtroom. (*Id.*).

Mr. Benford was returned to the courtroom and the state presented testimony regarding whether he would be required to wear the stun belt from Whitney Lex, a volunteer at Positive Avenues who witnessed the fight between Mr. Benford and D.M.R. (*Id.* at 16-17). Ms. Lex testified that she saw Mr. Benford stomping and kicking D.M.R.'s head and that she was very scared and would not want to be in Mr. Benford's presence if he was not restrained during the trial. (*Id.* at 17-18). Following Ms. Lex's testimony, the state introduced a photo of D.M.R. taken shortly after the fight to indicate the severity of his injuries. (*Id.* at 20-21).

The state then called the bailiff, Deputy Scott Kuehn, who testified that the jail policy requires anyone in custody who appears for trial to wear the stun belt device. (*Id.* at 21-22). Deputy Kuehn also testified that the only possible alternative available to ensure courtroom safety would be to allow Mr. Benford to testify by video-conferencing. (*Id.* at

⁴ The record includes four letters Mr. Benford wrote to the court prior to trial. (14; 15; 19; 23). As will be addressed, none of the letters contain threats of violence. *See infra* p. 16.

22-23). He further testified that courtroom security personnel alone would not be sufficient and that Mr. Benford had "given staff in the jail security concerns about his ability to follow direction, keep direction, and his ability to get along with other inmates." (*Id.* at 23). He concluded his direct testimony by indicating that "there would be potential for a huge problem" if Mr. Benford did not wear the device. (*Id.* at 25).

In response to questions from the court, Deputy Kuehn could not specifically describe any incident involving Mr. Benford in the jail or why Mr. Benford had "given staff in the jail security concerns about his ability to follow direction, keep direction, and his ability to get along with other inmates." (See id. at 25, 27). When asked whether Mr. Benford had acted aggressively or had confrontations in the jail, Deputy Kuehn testified: "I don't know specifically. I can't say – I can't give specific information, but I know through conversations that I had with other deputies and staff in the jail, that he is a concern when he's being transported and moved throughout the facility." (Id. at 27).

On cross-examination, Deputy Kuehn testified that Mr. Benford had never caused any problems in the courtroom during prior appearances, that Mr. Benford had never tried to escape, and that he was not aware of any specific violent behavior that had taken place in the jail. (*Id.* at 27-28).

The state then argued that the violent nature of the allegations demonstrated a need for the stun belt. (*Id.* at 30). The state further asserted that the bailiff's concerns, Ms. Lex's fear of Mr. Benford, and the recent incident in another Wisconsin courtroom required Mr. Benford to wear the stun belt. (*Id.* at 31). Defense counsel reiterated that Mr. Benford had been compliant at all prior court

appearances and that he was terrified of wearing the stun belt because he feared the risk of an accidental shock. (*Id.* at 32).

The court then found Mr. Benford would be required to wear the stun belt to attend his trial. (*Id*; App. 106). Specifically, the court relied on the seriousness of the charges against Mr. Benford, the injuries sustained by D.M.R., and Mr. Benford's young age and "physical attributes." (107:32-33; App. 106-07). The court also remarked that there were no alternatives to the stun belt to maintain courtroom security. (107:33-34; App. 107-08). Finally, the court's determination was based upon the letters Mr. Benford has previously sent to the court, which the court stated "indicate a high level of defiance or a high level of potential disruption of the trial in the event that Mr. Benford does not agree . . . with testimony that he hears . . ." (107:33-34; App. 107-08).

Following this finding, Mr. Benford inquired as to the circumstances under which the stun belt would be activated. (Id. 34). Deputy Kuehn testified that the device would be used if Mr. Benford displayed hostile actions, had loud outbursts, acted aggressively toward others in the courtroom, or if he attempted to escape. (Id. at 35). The deputy also indicated that if Mr. Benford failed to follow directions while being transported to the courtroom that the device would be used. (*Id.*). The Deputy further explained that the device is activated by remote and clarified that the device would be used only if Mr. Benford acted aggressively. (Id. at 36). Following this testimony, Mr. Benford continued to express his concern about being "electrocute[d]" by the device in front of the jury. (Id. at 39). Ultimately, Mr. Benford decided to wear the stun belt during the first day of the trial and he remained present in the courtroom during the first day. (108:1).

However, on the second day of the trial, Mr. Benford refused to wear the stun belt. (110:1, 9-10). As a result, Mr. Benford was removed from the courtroom. (*Id.* at 13). The court then made the finding that Mr. Benford was asked directly whether he wished to be present at trial and that he indicated he did not want to be present. (*Id.* at 15). Later in the day, the court addressed Mr. Benford, who had returned to court to waive his right to testify, and stated: "Given your decision to not appear personally for this trial, I have made, I think, accommodations to allow you to do so, the minimal restraint being that stun belt." (*Id.* at 98).

After the close of evidence and outside the presence of the jury, the court again remarked about Mr. Benford's absence from the second day of the trial. (*Id.* at 122). First, the court indicated its decision to not allow Mr. Benford to attend trial or represent himself unless he wore the stun belt was based on its "discretionary authority to preserve the good order of the Court . . .". (*Id.* at 123). Second, the court stated that Mr. Benford "voluntarily absenced himself[]" and that the court gave him several opportunities to personally attend and participate in the trial with the stun belt." (*Id.*).

On the third day of Mr. Benford's trial, in Mr. Benford's absence, the court instructed the jury and the jury heard closing arguments. (111:3-54). After the jury began deliberations, the parties addressed the issue of whether Mr. Benford would be returned to the courtroom at the time of the verdict. (*Id.* at 55-56). The court indicated that Mr. Benford would have to wear the stun belt to be present in the courtroom and that if he did not wear the device he could appear by video. (*Id.* at 56). However, the court was later informed by the bailiff that due to "elevated security concerns" Mr. Benford would need to be shackled during the reading of the verdict "opposed to having simply the stun

belt." (*Id.* at 59-60). The court agreed that due to "the security concerns" Mr. Benford would be shackled during the reading of the verdict. (*Id.* at 60). Ultimately, Mr. Benford appeared by video for the jury's verdicts. (*Id.* at 63-64).

Postconviction Ruling

The court denied Mr. Benford's request for a new trial after a hearing and after consideration of the written submissions of the parties. (115:11-13; App. 102-04; 70; 79; 80). In denying Mr. Benford a new trial, the court pointed to the security concerns presented by the Sheriff's Department and that state as well as the nature of the charges and Mr. Benford's pre-trial letters to the court. (115:11-12; App. 102-03). The court also commented that Judge Wright had also taken into consideration the prejudicial nature of increasing security personnel in the courtroom. (*Id.* at 12). The court concluded: "So as far as the request for a new jury trial is concerned concerning the issue of the stun belt, I'm gonna deny that." (*Id.* at 13). This appeal follows. (92).

ARGUMENT

Mr. Benford is Entitled to a New Trial Because His Constitutional and Statutory Rights to Be Present at His Trial Were Violated When the Circuit Court Erroneously Ordered Him to Wear a Stun Belt to Attend Trial.

As he did in his postconviction motion, Mr. Benford submits that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it ordered him to wear a stun belt to attend his trial. This error resulted in a violation of Mr. Benford's constitutional and statutory right to be present at his trial. His absence from days two and three of trial cannot be construed

as a voluntary waiver of his right to be present at trial because his absence was a direct consequence of the circuit court's erroneous determination regarding the stun belt.

A. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering Mr. Benford to wear a stun belt to attend his trial.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution both guarantee a defendant's right to confront witnesses against him. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. The right of confrontation contained in both our State and Federal Constitutions "are 'generally' coterminous." *State v. Rhodes*, 2011 WI 73, ¶28, 336 Wis. 2d 64, 799 N.W.2d 850. The United States Supreme Court has explained: "One of the most basic of rights guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause is the accused's right to be present in the courtroom at every stage of his trial." *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 338 (1970).

In Wisconsin, with few exceptions, a defendant also has a statutory right to be present at various proceedings, including trial and at the time the jury returns its verdict. Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(b) & (f). In interpreting the statutory right to be present at trial this court explained: "The language of section 971.04, Stats., is clear: a defendant must be present at the trial unless he or she voluntarily does not appear 'during the progress of the trial' provided that he or she was 'present at the beginning of the trial." *State v. Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d 826, 836, 512 N.W.2d 233 (1994) (quoting Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(b) & (3)).

Courtroom decorum and security concerns must be balanced alongside a defendant's statutory and constitutional right to be present at trial. For example, "a defendant can lose his right to be present at trial if, after he has been warned by the judge that he will be removed if he continues his disruptive behavior, he nevertheless insists on conducting himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be carried on with him in the courtroom." *Allen*, 397 U.S. at 343. Aside from removal of the defendant from the courtroom to ensure safety or maintain order in the courtroom, trial judges have discretion to order the use of restraints. *Id.* at 343-44.

Although a circuit court may make a discretionary determination as to the use of a particular restraint, freedom from restraint in the courtroom "is an important component of a fair and impartial trial." *Sparkman v. State*, 27 Wis. 2d 92, 96-97, 133 N.W.2d 776 (1965) (quoting *Way v. United States*, 285 F.2d 253, 254 (10th Cir. 1960)). For example, courts have long held that the use of shackles during trial must occur only after the court has "carefully exercise[d] its discretion . . . and . . . set forth its reasons justifying the need for restraints in that particular case." *State v. Grinder*, 190 Wis. 2d 541, 552, 527 N.W.2d 326 (1995).

As such, a reviewing court must determine whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering a particular restraint. *See State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, ¶40, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238.

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