RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **05-15-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP2520-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANNY L. BENFORD, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN F. MANYDEEDS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wintertm@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it ordered that Benford must wear a stun belt during trial proceedings.
 - A. The circuit court's inquiry into the necessity of the stun belt was sufficient in this case because the stun belt would not be visible to the jury.

"Generally, a criminal defendant should not be restrained during trial." Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 84. "At the same time, the general rule against restraining a criminal defendant may give way when necessary to protect the public." Id. Thus, a circuit court can order the use of restraints when restraints "are necessary to maintain order, decorum, and safety in the courtroom." Id.

In Wisconsin, the use of a restraint device that is not visible to the jury is not subject to the same scrutiny as one that is. See Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶¶ 85–86. (explaining the distinction between the State v. Champlain, 2008 WI App 5, 307 Wis. 2d 232, 744 N.W.2d 889 and State v. Miller, 2011 WI App 34, 331 Wis. 2d 732, 797 N.W.2d 528 holdings regarding a circuit court's duty to inquire into the necessity of restraints). Wisconsin has made the distinction between visible and non-visible restraints because "the norestraint rule is designed to prevent the jury from forming an opinion about the defendant's guilt based solely on the fact that the defendant is restrained." Miller, 331 Wis. 2d 732, ¶ 10.

In Ziegler, the defendant objected to the use of a stun belt and the circuit court did not inquire into its necessity. Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 23. Rather, the circuit court relied on the common practice of requiring defendants in custody to wear a stun belt at trial to avoid any problems. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that the circuit court did not have to inquire into the necessity of the device so long as the device was not visible to the jury. *Id.* ¶¶ 83– 86. This Court is bound by *Ziegler*.

Benford attempts to distinguish *Ziegler* on the grounds that Ziegler did not object to the court's determination that he would be required to wear a stun belt and that the claim raised by Benford on appeal is of a different type than that raised in *Ziegler*. (Benford's Br. 14.) This Court should reject those distinctions for two reasons. First, counsel for Ziegler did object when initially advised that Ziegler would be required to wear a stun belt at trial. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 23. Second, the holding of *Ziegler* is clear that when the issue is whether a defendant should wear a restraint that will not be visible to the jury, the circuit court's exercise of discretion will be upheld even if the court does not do a full inquiry into the necessity of the restraint. *Id*. ¶¶ 83–86.

In this case, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing before determining that Benford would be required to wear a stun belt at trial. The court concluded that the use of a restraint device was necessary because Benford's crime involved a violent, physical altercation, and Benford had exhibited a "high level of defiance or a high level of potential disruption." (R. 107:32–34.) The court also considered a variety of non-binding factors and determined that it was appropriate for Benford to wear the stun belt because it was the least prejudicial and most effective way to secure the courtroom. (R. 107:32–34.)

The circuit court's determination was specific to Benford and not predicated solely on policy, as it was in *Ziegler*. The circuit court here made an individualized determination regarding the necessity of a restraint device, and thus, the circuit court went above and beyond what is required in Wisconsin before ordering that Benford must wear a stun belt at trial. There are simply no grounds to conclude that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion under existing law.

This Court would have to overrule *Ziegler* for there to be any merit to Benford's claim that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. This Court can do no such thing. The court is bound by Ziegler and lacks the authority to "overrule, modify or withdraw language" from prior supreme court decisions. Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189–90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Only the supreme court has the power to overrule, modify, or withdraw language from prior Wisconsin cases. Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co., 2010 WI 35, ¶ 54, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682. There is no way around Ziegler because, like Benford, Ziegler objected to the use of the stun belt. Thus, if this Court believes that *Ziegler* was wrongly decided or that its reasoning was flawed, it may certify the case to the supreme court or "decide the appeal, adhering to a prior case but stating its belief that the prior case was wrongly decided." *Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d at 190. What this Court cannot do is adopt Benford's position that a circuit court must make particular findings before it can order a defendant to wear a stun belt at trial.

B. Even if this Court concludes that *Ziegler* does not control, the circuit court properly concluded that Benford must wear a stun belt to be present at trial.

If this Court disagrees that *Ziegler* controls, the Court should nonetheless reject Benford's argument that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing before concluding that it was necessary for Benford to wear a stun belt at trial to maintain order, decorum, and safety in the courtroom.

Benford asserts that the circuit court started from the presumption that Benford would be required to wear the stun belt at trial and did not meaningfully assess the need for the use of restraints. (Benford's Br. 18.) Benford further argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because Benford did not have a history of inappropriate behavior in the court room, prior violent convictions, or incidents of violent conduct while in custody, nor had he attempted or planned to escape, and Benford's letters to the court did not contain anything problematic. (Benford's Br. 15.) In other words, Benford's argument is that restraints cannot be ordered unless his past behavior clearly established that Benford would be violent at trial.

Benford's argument should be rejected for two primary reasons. First, the circuit court's final decision did not start from the presumption that Benford would be required to wear a stun belt at trial. To the contrary, the court concluded that it should not rely on jail policy and that it should make an individualized determination of the need for restraints. (R. 107:15.) The court was clear: "I want to make a decision based on the specifics of this case, and I want to hear specific reasons for the need for the stun belt *before* I decide whether or not that should be a requirement for your appearing personally once we appear in front of the jury." (R. 107:15 (emphasis added).) Benford's assertion that the circuit court started from the presumption that Benford should be required to wear a stun belt should be rejected as plainly contrary to the record.

Second, the circuit court did not rely on law enforcement policy but instead conducted a hearing, considered proper factors, and reached a reasonable conclusion that the use of restraints was appropriate in this specific case. That is what is required for a proper exercise of discretion before determining the need for visible restraints. *Champlain*, 307 Wis. 2d 232, ¶ 33. The only way for Benford's claim to have any merit would be for this Court to conclude, contrary to established precedent, that the use of a non-visible restraint is subject to a higher scrutiny than the use of visible restraints.

To reiterate, the circuit court concluded that it was appropriate for Benford to wear a stun belt at trial for the following reasons:

- The charges against Benford were the result of "violent and extremely dangerous behavior." (R. 107:32.)
- 2. Based on Benford's physical attributes, it would be difficult to respond effectively if Benford exhibited similar violent conduct in the courtroom. (R. 107:33.)
- 3. There was no alternative as effective as a stun belt. (R. 107:33.)
- 4. Based on the layout of the courtroom, a stun belt would more quickly deter or stop a violent outburst than a bailiff could. (R. 107:33.)
- 5. The letters sent to the court by Benford "indicate a high level of defiance or a high level of potential disruption" if Benford became dissatisfied with what was happening at trial. (R. 107:33–34.)
- 6. Shackles, as opposed to a stun belt, would be unduly prejudicial because shackles would be visible to the jury. (R. 107:34.)
- 7. The stun belt would not be used if Benford spoke out of turn; it would be activated only if Benford was physically aggressive. (R. 107:35–36.)

Benford takes issue with the circuit court's reliance on the violent nature of the charges and relies on *State v*. *Leonard*, 813 N.E.2d 50 (Ohio Ct. App. 2004), and *Miller v*. *State*, 852 So.2d 904 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003), for the proposition that the violent nature of the alleged crimes is insufficient to justify the need for a defendant to wear a stun belt at trial. (Benford's Br. 16.) Both of those cases are distinguishable.

Leonard is distinguishable because there the jury could ascertain that Leonard was wearing a stun belt, the trial court had made no on-the-record determination of the need for restraints, the stun belt would be activated for reasons other than physical aggression, and the only issue was whether Leonard was entitled to a postconviction hearing on his claim. Leonard, 813 N.E.2d at 62–63. The Ohio court concluded that "[i]n the absence of a hearing on the need for restraints," "the violent nature of the crimes" alone was insufficient to justify the need for restraints. Id. at 64. Here the court conducted a hearing and relied on a multitude of factors in addition to the violent nature of the crime.

Miller is distinguishable because of the extreme measures taken to restrain Miller at trial. Benford fails to note that "Miller appeared before the jury wearing handcuffs, a waist chain, leg irons, and a stun belt" that were all visible to the jury. *Miller*, 852 So.2d at 905. The issue was whether Miller was entitled to a hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the use of visible restraints. Id. The Florida court was concerned with "the extreme restraint measures that were used" and that no attempt was made to shield the use of restraints from the jury. Id. at 905–06. The court concluded that Miller's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was facially sufficient under those circumstances. Id. at 906. Here, counsel did object, the court conducted a hearing, and concluded that Benford would be required to wear a stun belt at trial. The court considered a variety of factors, one of those factors being that the stun belt was the best option to shield the use of restraints from the jury's view. *Miller* is inapposite to this case.

Benford also takes issue with the circuit court's consideration of the letters that Benford had sent to the court. (Benford's Br. 17.) He argues that it was inappropriate for the court to conclude that the letters supported the need for restraints because the letters did not contain any indication that he would be aggressive in court. (Benford's Br. 17.) That is not exactly true.

The letters established that Benford believed that his crime was a result of a nervous breakdown. (See, e.g., R. 15:2.) The letters also established that Benford was growing increasingly stressed and was suffering panic attacks and nervous breakdowns leading up to trial. (See, e.g., R. 23:2.) While there were no express threats in the letters, the letters indicated the possibility of a "high level of potential disruption" if Benford became dissatisfied with what was happening at trial. (R. 107:33–34.)

The letters were one factor in the totality of the circumstances that led the court to its conclusion. The court was tasked with determining whether restraints were needed to maintain order, decorum, and safety in the courtroom. That determination requires an assessment of past actions and statements as indicators of the need for restraints. The circuit court was not required to ignore indicators and to wait to see if Benford was violent at trial before ordering the use of restraints.

Benford next argues that his past actions in court and in jail should be viewed as most predictive of his behavior at trial. (Benford's Br. 17.) This argument ignores that pre-trial proceedings are inherently different than trial proceedings. Trial proceedings are emotionally charged events. There is no way for a court to predict with certainty whether a defendant will be violent at trial, nor is that required by law. Rather, restraints can be properly used as a reasonable *precaution* so long as the court exercised it discretion and set forth its reasons on the record. *Flowers v. State*, 43 Wis. 2d 352, 363–64, 168 N.W.2d 843 (1969). The court did so here, and the fact that Benford had not yet displayed physical aggression in the courtroom or in jail did not preclude the conclusion that the use of restraints at trial was warranted.

Benford challenges the court's conclusion that there were no reasonable alternatives to the use of the stun belt. (Benford's Br. 18.) Benford cites to no binding authority that would require the court to consider alternatives. That said, the circuit court rejected alternatives such as increased courtroom security and shackles because both of those alternatives would not be as effective as a stun belt if Benford were to become violent. Likewise, both alternatives would have been readily apparent to the jury. The court's exercise of discretion included a careful balancing of competing interests in the use of restraints and rejected alternatives as unduly prejudicial. The State fails to understand how a careful consideration of alternatives before the rejection of those alternatives amounts to an erroneous exercise of discretion.

At the heart of Benford's claim is his request that this Court should conclude that a stun belt is an extreme form of restraint that requires a different level of judicial scrutiny. (Benford's Br. 18–20.) This Court should reject that request as contrary to Wisconsin law and as unsupported by the cases upon which Benford relies. Rather, the cases cited by Benford all reach the conclusion that an order for the use of a stun belt as a restraint device is subject to the *same* level of scrutiny as other devices, such as shackles. Gonzalez v. Pliler, 341 F.3d 897, 901 (9th Cir. 2003) (citing United States v. Durham, 287 F.3d 1297, 1306 (11th Cir. 2002)); People v. Allen, 856 N.E.2d 349, 353 (Ill. 2006); Leonard, 813 N.E.2d at 63 (citing Durham, 287 F.3d at 1306); Hymon v. State, 111 P.3d 1092, 1099 (Nev. 2005) (citing Durham, 287 F.3d at 1306). Those cases make clear that courts in those law enforcement, make jurisdictions, not must а

determination that the use of a stun belt is appropriate. Gonzalez, 341 F.3d at 902; Allen, 856 N.E.2d at 353–54; Leonard, 813 N.E.2d at 62; Hymon, 111 P.3d at 1099. That is exactly what occurred here, and there is no basis to conclude that the court erroneously exercised its discretion.

Finally, the fact that Indiana has banned the use of stun belts is inconsequential to this case. (*See* Benford's Br. 19–20.) Stun belts have not been banned in Wisconsin. The issue on review is whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion before determining that Benford would be required to wear a stun belt at trial. The court did so.

II. Benford's decision to waive his constitutional and statutory right to be present at trial was voluntary.

A defendant's right to be present at trial is protected both in the federal and Wisconsin constitutions⁵ and by statute.⁶ A defendant has a constitutional right to be present in the courtroom at all stages of his trial. *Divanovic*, 200 Wis. 2d at 219–20.

A defendant may waive both the constitutional and statutory right to be present. *Divanovic*, 200 Wis. 2d at 221; *State v. Soto*, 2012 WI 93, ¶¶ 39–40, 343 Wis. 2d 43, 817 N.W.2d 848. As relevant here, waiver occurs when there is an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right. *See State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 28–31, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (discussing waiver of a statutory right);

⁵ U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 8; *State v. Divanovic*, 200 Wis. 2d 210, 219–20, 546 N.W.2d 501 (Ct. App. 1996).

⁶ Wis. Stat. § 971.04.

State v. Suriano, 2017 WI 42, $\P\P$ 22–24, 374 Wis. 2d 683, 893 N.W.2d 543 (discussing waiver of a constitutional right).

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